1940

# William A. Fawcett v. Security Benefit Association : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF FACTS.

Plaintiff's complaint alleges that on February 6, 1922, Harriett P. Fawcett made application for membership in Milford Council No. 3611 of Defendant Association, and for a benefit Certificate in the sum of \$1000.00 on the American Experience Twenty Pay Plan; that said application was approved and Defendant duly issued Benefit Certificate No. 911864, bearing date February 14, 1922; that said Certificate was delivered to Harriett P. Fawcett February 18, 1922, at which time she paid \$2.60, the amount of the first monthly contribution on said Certificate, plus Local Council dues; that in addition to the first monthly payment plaintiff paid an equivalent of \$2.60 each month from March, 1922, down to and including the month of September, 1928; that said Certificate provided for extended protection for a period of ten years and thirty days; that on January 6, 1929, Harriett P. Fawcett made applica-



tion to Defendant for extended protection for said period. (Abst. 1-4)

Plaintiff further alleged that the Certificate did not become effective until delivered to and signed by the applicant during the applicant's good health; that the first monthly payment was made on February 18, 1922, and covered a period from February 18, 1922, to March 18, 1922; that each payment thereafter fell due on the 18th day of each month, commencing with March 18, 1922, and covered a period of one month from the 18th day of each month; that the last payment made covered the period from September 18, 1928, to October 18, 1928, and that Harriett P. Fawcett was entitled to extended insurance for a period of ten years and thirty days from October 18, 1928, or to November 18, 1938; that she died on November 7, 1938, while the Certificate was in full force and effect. (Abst. 4-7)

Defendant in its answer admitted the issuance of the Certificate and payment of assessments and Local Council dues at the time and in the manner alleged by plaintiff, but alleged that under the contract, which consisted of the application, the Certificate and the Constitution and Laws, the member was required to pay one assessment and Local Council dues for the month in which the Certificate was delivered, and thereafter to pay an assessment and Local Council dues on or before the last day of each succeeding month; that all assessments for each month became due and payable on the first day of the month and members who failed to pay such assessment on or before the last day of the month became automatically suspended. Defendant alleged that the assessment paid February 18,

1922, was for the month of February, 1922, the month in which the Certificate was delivered; that the assessment for the month of March was due March 1, 1922, but that the members were given the right to pay said assessment on or before the last day of March; that the last assessment paid by Harriett P. Fawcett was for the month of September, 1928, and that she was granted extended insurance for ten years and thirty days from October 1, 1928; that pursuant to her application, an endorsement was made providing that she was entitled to extended protection for ten years and thirty days from October 1, 1928; that said endorsement further provided that the Certificate of membership expired October 30, 1938; that Harriett P. Fawcett accepted and retained said certificate as amended, and thereby acquiesced in, accepted and ratified the terms of said contract as amended by said endorsement; that said Certificate expired October 30, 1938, and was therefore void and of no force or effect on November 7, 1938, the date of death of Harriett P. Fawcett. Defendant further alleged that as a Kansas corporation the rights and liabilities of all members are governed by the Laws of Kansas, and that under the Laws of Kansas, as interpreted by the Supreme Court of Kansas in the case of *Wolford, Adm'x. v. National Life Insurance Co.*, 114 Kan. 411, 219 P. 263, the date fixed in the contract for the payment of premiums governs, and the fact that the policy was not delivered on a date corresponding with the times specifically fixed for subsequent premiums does not postpone the time for such payments to the anniversary of the date of the policy. Defendant pleaded that under the Full Faith and Credit Clause of

the United States Constitution, it was entitled to have the Laws of Kansas, as interpreted by the Supreme Court of Kansas in said case, applied by the Courts of Utah in determining the rights of plaintiff and of defendant. (Abst. 7-18)

Plaintiff's reply admitted the fraternal character of defendant, admitted the contract contained the language alleged in defendant's answer and reaffirmed the allegations of his complaint, and prayed for judgment in accordance with the prayer of his complaint, and prayed for reformation of the endorsement to correspond with the alleged intention of the parties if necessary.

This case was tried upon an agreed statement of facts. This statement is short, so for the convenience of the Court we will set it out in full in this Brief:

### **"AGREED STATEMENT OF FACTS.**

(Abst. 24-28. Trans. 17, 46)

It is hereby stipulated and agreed by and between the parties hereto, through their respective Attorneys of record, that the following facts may be considered by the Court as admitted and that no evidence thereon will be required:

1. It is admitted that the defendant is and was at all times herein mentioned a fraternal benefit society, a corporation chartered, organized and operating under and by virtue of the Laws of the State of Kansas, and duly licensed and operating in the State of Utah as a fraternal benefit society under and by virtue of the Laws of the State of Utah relating to foreign fraternal benefit societies; that the defendant is a corporation

without capital stock, organized and carried on solely for the mutual benefit of its members and their beneficiaries and not for profit; that it has a lodge system with ritualistic form of work and representative form of government, and makes provision for the payment of benefits in accordance with Section 43-9-6 of the Revised Statutes of Utah, 1933.

2. That on or about February 6, 1922, Harriett P. Fawcett made written application for membership in Milford Council No. 3611 of Defendant Association and a Benefit Certificate in the sum of \$1000 on the American Experience Twenty Pay Plan; that a true and correct copy of said application is attached hereto, marked Exhibit "1", and made a part hereof as fully as though it were set out in full herein; that said application was duly approved by defendant, and said Association pursuant to said application duly issued Benefit Certificate No. 911864 in the amount of \$1000, bearing date February 14, 1922, a photostatic copy of which is hereto attached, marked Exhibit "2", and made a part hereof as fully as though set out in full herein; that the contract between The Security Benefit Association and said Harriett P. Fawcett consisted of the Certificate, Exhibit "2" hereto, the application for membership, Exhibit "1", and the Constitution and Laws of Defendant Association, a true and correct copy of which is attached hereto, marked Exhibit "3", and made a part hereof.

3. That Harriett P. Fawcett was thereafter initiated and became a member of Defendant Association; that Defendant delivered said Certificate to Harriett P. Fawcett on February 18, 1922, during her good health;

that on said date Harriett P. Fawcett signed said Certificate and acknowledged in writing on said Certificate the delivery of the same to her, and at such time she paid to Defendant the sum of \$2.60, which sum was the amount of the first monthly contribution on said Certificate as provided for therein, plus the amount of Local Council dues of Defendant Association.

4. That in addition to the first monthly payment as above set forth, Harriett P. Fawcett paid to the Financier of the Defendant Association an equivalent of \$2.60 each month from the month of March, 1922, down to and including the month of September, 1928, which sum included the monthly assessment payments on said Certificate, plus Local Council dues, the last payment thereon having been made September 30, 1928.

5. That Harriett P. Fawcett was twenty-eight years of age, nearest birthday, at the time of the issuance of said Benefit Certificate; that according to the table of values, which is a part of said Certificate, after monthly payments were made on said Certificate for a period of six full years, the withdrawal equity value of said Certificate was sufficient to purchase extended insurance for ten years and thirty days; that on January 6, 1929, Harriett P. Fawcett made written application for extended protection for said period; that a true and correct copy of said application for extended protection is attached hereto, marked Exhibit "4", and made a part of this Agreed Statement of Facts.

6. That Harriett P. Fawcett thereupon delivered said Benefit Certificate No. 911864, together with said application for extended protection, to the Defendant Association for endorsement, and thereafter and on

January 18, 1929, pursuant to said application for extended protection, the Defendant Association placed the following endorsement on said Certificate:

“January 18, 1929.

The Security Benefit Association, upon the request of the said Harriett P. Fawcett, hereby waives the periodical contributions stipulated in this Certificate of Membership and continues Whole Life Protection for death benefits only, in the sum of \$1000.00 for ten years and thirty days from October 1, 1928, this Certificate of membership expiring October 30, 1938.

As part of the consideration for this extension the said Harriett Fawcett agrees to surrender this Certificate for cancellation after the expiration thereof as above described.

THE SECURITY BENEFIT ASSN.

J. M. Kirkpatrick,  
National President.

J. V. Abrahams,  
National Secretary.”

(Seal)

That said Certificate as endorsed was returned to said Harriett P. Fawcett and received and retained by her.

7. That Harriett P. Fawcett died November 7, 1938; that due notice and proof of death was filed by Plaintiff herein within ninety days from the date of death.

8. The parties hereto further agree that the case of *Wolford, Administratrix, v. National Life Ins. Co.*, reported in 114 Kansas Reports 411, 219 Pacific Reporter 263, attached hereto, marked Exhibit “5”, and made a part hereof, is a true and correct copy of the decision of the Supreme Court of Kansas, being the highest court of said state.

9. That the plaintiff herein, prior to the death of

the said Harriett P. Fawcett had not seen and did not know the contents of said benefit certificate and the endorsement thereon.

10. It is agreed that either party hereto, or the Court may refer to or consider any portion of the contract, consisting of Exhibits "1", "2" and "3", which they deem pertinent to the issues herein, and in the event of an appeal from the decision of the District Court either party may incorporate in the abstract of the record any portion of said contract which they may deem pertinent, but that it shall not be necessary to copy the entire contract in the record on appeal."

The Trial Court in written conclusions of law, based upon the Agreed Statement of Facts, found that said Benefit Certificate was on November 7, 1938, the date of the death of Harriett P. Fawcett, by virtue of the provisions for extended insurance contained in paragraph 6 of said Certificate, in full force and effect for death benefits only in the sum of \$1000.00, and that plaintiff was entitled to judgment against defendant for said sum. (Abst. 30-31)

### STATEMENT OF ERRORS.

The Defendant, Appellant herein, contends that the Trial Court erred in the following particulars:

1. The court erred in finding that the stipulated facts are sufficient to support a judgment in favor of the plaintiff and against the defendant; that said stipulated facts are insufficient to support, sustain, or justify the decision, conclusions of law, and judgment rendered by the District Court.

2. The court erred in signing and entering the conclusions of law and judgment submitted by respondents, and particularly in its conclusion of law that Benefit Certificate No. 911864, dated February 14, 1922, issued to Harriett P. Fawcett by the defendant association, was on November 7, 1938, the date of the death of Harriett P. Fawcett, by virtue of the provision for extended insurance contained in Paragraph VI of said certificate, in full force and effect for death benefit only, in the sum of \$1,000.00, and in rendering judgment therefor.

3. That the court erred in denying appellant's motion for a new trial.

4. That the decision rendered by the District Court is against law.

All of the above errors involve the same questions and will be discussed together.

### QUESTIONS INVOLVED.

The principal question involved in this case is whether the payment made February 18, 1922, paid for insurance to March 18, 1922, or whether it paid the assessment for the month of February, 1922, requiring another payment to pay the assessment for the period commencing March 1, 1922, and whether subsequent payments were for the period commencing on the first day of each subsequent month or for the period commencing on the 18th day of the month.

A second question involved is the effect of the endorsement placed upon the Certificate January 18,



1929, which stated specifically the Certificate expired October 30, 1938.

A third question involved is whether plaintiff as beneficiary of Harriett P. Fawcett is estopped to claim rights inconsistent with the terms of the endorsement.

A fourth question involved is whether, under the Full Faith and Credit Clause of the United States Constitution, the Laws of Kansas control the rights of all members of Defendant Association, including the date when subsequent assessments become due.

## **BRIEF AND ARGUMENT.**

### **I.**

**THE ASSESSMENT PAID WHEN THE CERTIFICATE WAS DELIVERED FEBRUARY 18, 1922, WAS FOR THE MONTH OF FEBRUARY, 1922, AND A NEW ASSESSMENT BECAME PAYABLE FOR THE PERIOD COMMENCING MARCH 1, 1922, AND FOR THE PERIOD COMMENCING ON THE FIRST DAY OF EACH SUCCEEDING MONTH.**

#### **(a) Method of Operation of Fraternal Benefit Societies.**

At the outset of this argument we wish to call the Court's attention to the fact that the defendant is a fraternal benefit society and not an old line insurance company. The universal practice of fraternal benefit societies is to levy monthly assessments, or as mentioned in Bacon on Life and Accident Insurance, Fourth Edition, page 33, "In the societies the fund is obtained by periodical taxes upon the membership, at stated intervals, or as required, sufficient to meet the demand."

This Court, in the case of *White v. W. O. W.*, 87 Utah 477, 50 P. (2d) 422, had under consideration the difference between fraternal benefit societies and old line life insurance companies, and in the opinion referred to the distinction as defined by Mr. Justice Holmes of the United States Supreme Court:

“The nature of the relationship between the deceased member and the defendant must be understood in order to have a clear notion of the law applicable to the case. Such relationship is well expressed by Mr. Justice Holmes in the case of *Supreme Lodge, K. P. v. Mims*, 241 U. S. 574, at page 580, 36 S. Ct. 702, 704, 60 L. Ed. 1179, L. R. A. 1916F, 919:

“Persons who join institutions of this sort are not dealing at arm’s length with a stranger whose mode of providing for payment does not concern them, but only his promise to pay. They are joining a club the members of which have to pay any benefit that any member can receive. The corporation is simply the machine for collection and distribution.”

The *White* case further discloses how fraternal benefit societies are still operating on the assessment plan, and when necessary may levy extra or multiple assessments, and are not operating on the level premium plan. See also *Jenkins v. Talbot*, 338 Ill. 441, 170 N. E. 735.

The contract in question shows clearly that the member agreed to pay monthly *assessments* and not merely life insurance premiums in payment for insurance for a specified period of time.

Section 103 of the By-laws of the Defendant (Abst. 49), a part of the contract, provides that every member

is required to pay an *assessment* each month. Section 48 provides that the National Executive Committee shall levy extra or special *assessments* when necessary. Section 112 provides that if the *assessment* is not paid on or before the last day of the month, the member becomes suspended (Abst. 49).

**(b) Contract may fix premium due date prior to anniversary of effective date of Policy.**

At the outset of this case plaintiff made the contention that defendant did not have the legal right to require subsequent premiums to be paid on a date other than the anniversary of the effective date of the Certificate. However, plaintiff has apparently abandoned this contention.

It is well established, with but very few exceptions, that an insurance organization may fix the date for payment of premiums, although the policy does not go into effect on a date corresponding to a date fixed for such subsequent premiums. The rule is stated in 32 C. J. Insurance, 1196, Sec. 329, as follows:

“Although there is authority to the contrary, the general rule is that the fact that the policy does not go into effect on a date corresponding to the date fixed for payment of subsequent premiums, does not change the provisions of the contract as to when such subsequent premiums become payable.”

The same rule is announced in 6 A. L. R. 775, as follows:

“When a policy, conditioned to take effect on the payment of the first premium, expressly speci-

fies the date from which the premium period is to be computed, and makes that date the day all the recurring premiums are due and payable, such date must control, regardless of the date on which the policy is delivered.”

There are complete annotations on this subject in 6 A. L. R. 774, 32 A. L. R. 1253, 80 A. L. R. 957, and 111 A. L. R. 1420. See also *Wolford Adm’x. v. National Life Ins. Co.*, 114 Kan. 411, 219 P. 263. As this right is not now seriously questioned by plaintiff, we will not prolong this brief by citing authorities on this question.

The above rule applies to fraternal contracts with much more force than to old line contracts. In an old line company the longer the applicant waits to pay his first premium the shorter the period of protection he receives in return for this premium. In a fraternal society the member may, if he desires, wait until the first day of the next month to pay his first assessment and by so doing will receive a full month’s protection in return for the monthly assessment in addition to a month’s grace period. The choice is left to the member.

Plaintiff stresses the point that an applicant whose Certificate is not delivered until the last day of the month would receive but one day’s insurance in return for his monthly assessment. This is not correct. She would receive insurance protection for the entire month which follows, by reason of the grace period contained in the contract (Constitution and Laws, Sec. 103, 112, Abst. 49, 50.) In Mrs. Fawcett’s case, if she had never paid another assessment after the first she still would have received one month and ten day’s insurance protection in return for one monthly assessment.

**(c) The Contract provides for payments for each calendar month.**

Plaintiff and defendant agree that the main question involved is, "What does the contract provide?" Plaintiff claims that the Certificate and By-laws taken together provided that the first payment paid for insurance from the 18th day of February to the 17th day of March; that the next payment paid for insurance from the 18th day of March to the 17th day of April, etc. Defendant contends that the assessment paid when the Certificate was delivered was the assessment "for the month in which the Certificate is delivered" as required by Section 103 of the By-laws (Exhibit 3, Abst. 49); that the next assessment "became due and payable on the first day of the month" (March), but the member was permitted to pay such assessment and dues "on or before the last day of the month," as provided in Section 112 of the By-laws (Abst. 49, 50), and as provided in the Certificate which requires payment of \$2.35 "to be paid within each month to the Financier of the Local Council;" that the last assessment paid to September 30, 1928, and that the extended protection of 10 years and thirty days expired October 30, 1938.

An examination of the contract will disclose that there is no ambiguity and no inconsistency; that the entire contract is in accordance with defendant's contention that each monthly assessment became payable on the first day of each succeeding month and had to be paid on or before the last day of the month. The Certificate itself provides as follows (Abst. 42):

"In consideration of the statements, answers and agreements in the application of the member,

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