1940

William A. Fawcett v. Security Benefit Association : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF CASE

This case was tried upon an agreed statement of facts, which is before the court. Consequently, the parties are in harmony with respect thereto. As appellant has referred to the parties as plaintiff and defendant, we shall do likewise.

QUESTIONS INVOLVED

The general question is whether the Benefit Certificate sued upon was in full force and effect for death benefit only at the date of the death of Harriett P. Fawcett, which resolves itself into the following specific questions: (1) When did the extended insurance period commence: (2) Did the endorsement placed upon the Certificate constitute a new contract between the parties or the exercise of an option provided for in the Certificate; (3) Is the plaintiff estopped to claim rights inconsistent with the endorsement; (4) To what extent do the laws of Kansas determine the rights of the parties in this case.

BRIEF AND ARGUMENT

Before entering into a discussion of the main points involved, may we state that we fail to see that the method of operation of fraternal benefit societies, discussed by defendant at page 11, has any bearing upon any of the questions in this case. The fundamental distinction between fraternal benefit societies and so-called "old line insurance companies," is that one operates by levying assessments to meet its obligations, and the other uses the level premium plan. However, so far as this case is concerned, there is no difference. The contract

provided for the payment of a definite sum, payable monthly for a period of twenty years. While the association had the power to levy extra assessments if occasion demanded, as in the case of *White v. W.O.W.*, 87, Utah 477, 50 Pac. (2d) 422, cited by defendant on page 12, that power was not exercised during the life of the certificate in this case. Consequently, the fact that the term "assessments" is used rather than "premiums" or "payments" or some other like term is of no consequence in this case. As defendant has stated on page 15, the main question is, "What does the contract provide?" A determination of that question, so far as applicable here, is foreign to a discussion of the operation of fraternal benefit societies.

I

THE EXTENDED INSURANCE PERIOD OF TEN YEARS PLUS THIRTY DAYS COMMENCED OCTOBER 18, 1928, AND TERMINATED SUBSEQUENT TO THE DATE OF THE DEATH OF HARRIETT P. FAWCETT.

A. THE ASSESSMENT PAID ON FEBRUARY 18, 1922, WAS A MONTHLY ASSESSMENT, AND COVERED A PERIOD FROM FEBRUARY 18, 1922, TO MARCH 17, 1922 INCLUSIVE. EACH ASSESSMENT THEREAFTER FELL DUE ON THE 18TH OF THE MONTH, COMMENCING MARCH 18, 1922, AND COVERED A FULL MONTH.

We believe defendant will agree that the theory of extended insurance is that it covers a period in addition to the time covered by the payment of assessments. There is considerable authority for the view that extended insurance commences at the expiration of the grace period following the due date of the assessment not paid. See annotation in 106 A.L.R. 1276. We believe, however, that the majority view is that in the absence of any specific contract provision to the contrary, extended insurance commences on the due

date of the premium which was not paid. We have adopted the latter proposition. It therefore becomes material for the court to determine the due date of the assessments under the contract, and the period covered by each assessment.

We contend that the first assessment covered a period of one full month, and that each assessment thereafter fell due on the 18th day of each month, commencing March 18, 1922, and covered a period of one month, and that the last assessment paid on September 30, 1928 covered a period from September 18, 1928 to October 17, 1928 inclusive. We take this position for the following reasons:

1. Wording of the contract.

The Certificate reads in part as follows:

“In consideration of the statements, answers and agreements in the application of the member, which by this contract are made warranties, and in further consideration of *the first monthly contribution* of \$2.35 paid before or at the time of the delivery of this Certificate, and thereafter \$2.35 to be paid *within each month* to the Financier of the Local Council, *for a completed period of twenty years from the date of the first payment thereon.*” (Italics ours) (Ab. 42.)

The first payment was made on February 18, 1922. (Ab. 26.) It would seem that the language of the Certificate which is italicized above requires the interpretation contended for. The first payment by the terms of the Certificate was a “monthly” payment, the only logical conclusion being that it covered a full month’s

period and not a portion of a month. The court will note that such general expressions as "first monthly contribution" and "within each month" are used in the Certificate, and "first day of the month" and "last day of the month" in the Constitution and Laws. (Ab. 49-50.) In addition to such general expressions, there is the provision in the Certificate italicized above, which requires assessments to be paid "within each month for a completed period of twenty years from the date of the first payment thereon." We need not cite authority for the proposition that the court will construe all provisions of the contract together, which requires the general expressions to be construed along with and in reference to the date of the first payment. The defendant would have the court construe the general expressions without reference to the fixed date and therefore contends that "first day of the month" and "last day of the month" means first and last days of any of the months of the calendar, such as March, April or June, etc. Defendant asks the court to adopt a construction which wholly ignores the effect of the *fixed date* upon the general expressions. On the other hand, we urge upon the court a construction which takes into consideration the effect of the fixed date on the general expressions. To state it another way "first and last day of the month" as used in the Constitution and Laws must have reference to the day of the month when the first assessment was paid, which would necessarily determine the day of the month when subsequent assessments fell due. The *first day of the month for the payment of assessments* was determined by the first payment made on the certificate to be the 18th day thereof.

Defendant criticizes us on pages 16 and 17 for urging that "first day of the month" means the 18th day and "last day of the month" means the 17th day. On the other hand, we maintain our contention is sound, and it is the only way the general provisions can be harmonized with the fixed date. Furthermore, our contention has its counterpart elsewhere. Many corporations have their fiscal year commence on March 1st. The first day of the *fiscal year* does not, therefore, correspond with the first day of the year as ordinarily understood. In the same way, the *first day of the month for the payment of assessments* does not necessarily correspond with the first day of the months of the calendar.

Defendant has indicated some of the difficulties involved with its construction. (Page 23) If the first payment carried the Certificate down to the end of February, 1922, and another fell due on March 1, 1922, we fail to see how the defendant can escape one of two conclusions; namely, that the first assessment was for term insurance to March 1, 1922, or that it was not a monthly assessment and did not cover a full month's period. Defendant tries to answer these objections by definitely eliminating the first, and as to the second, by stating that the provision in the contract to the effect that the first assessment was for the month "in which the Certificate was delivered" meant the month of February, 1922. To take this position, however, defendant ignores the provision in the contract that designates the assessment as a "monthly contribution." As discussed more fully hereafter, we submit that "monthly" means a full month's period.

If defendant's contention is correct, the 240th

assessment would fall due on January 1, 1942, and if not paid, would be delinquent on February 1, 1942. To avoid a forfeiture, the 240th assessment would have to be paid before February 1, 1942, and yet the Certificate would not mature until February 18, 1942, leaving a gap from February 1st to February 18, 1942. Generally speaking, in insurance contracts the last premium is paid prior to maturity, but it is uniformly true that the maturity date of the policy and the end of the period covered by the last premium correspond, which they don't under defendant's construction. Defendant, on pages 24 and 25, tries to meet this objection by saying this provision of the contract is not before the court. The question of whether the Certificate would be forfeited or not by the failure to pay the 241st assessment is not before the court, but the provisions of the contract relating to the due date of assessments and the period they covered are before the court. The reason given by the defendant for the necessity of the language "twenty years from the date of the first payment thereon" tends to strengthen our view, and defendant therein admits that the date of the first payment controls so far as subsequent payments are concerned. Defendant admits that if Mrs. Fawcett had not paid the first assessment until April 14, 1922 (sixty days after its date), the Certificate would not mature until April 14, 1942. However, regardless of the date of payment, the 240th payment, to adopt defendant's view, would have to be paid before the first day of the month in which the Certificate matured, leaving the gap mentioned above. The above difficulties are avoided if plaintiff's view is adopted.

2. Judicial interpretation.

We have made an exhaustive search and have found no case squarely in point on the construction of a contract similar to the one before the court. We have, however, found two cases which adopt the theory which supports our contention. The defendant has cited no case against our view, nor have we been able to find any. We shall first discuss the two cases which support our position and then comment on the cases cited by the defendant.

In *Sovereign Camp of W. of W. v. Reed*, 94 So. 910 (Ala.), the facts were as follows: The certificate was dated December 15, 1919, the policy delivered, and the first monthly payment of \$1.60 was paid on December 31, 1919. There was \$3.20 paid on January 28, 1920 and the deceased died on the 25th of February, 1920. The certificate had the following clause:

"This certificate is granted in consideration of the monthly premium hereinbefore stated in the schedule and of the payment of a like amount on or before the 1st day of each consecutive month thereafter during the continuance of this contract, and the further consideration of the delivery of this certificate during the lifetime and good health of the member."

The court stated on page 913:

"In the contract are employed the words referring to the payment of premiums, 'monthly installments,' 'following months,' and 'monthly payment.' The word 'month' as so used in the beneficiary certificate and exhibits thereto or

documents incorporated therein by agreement of the parties, had reference to a calendar month."

The court, after citing the familiar rule of construction of a policy to be in favor of the assured, stated on page 913 as follows:

"When the contract sued upon is so construed, and the advance payment of \$1.60 as a monthly premium on December 31, 1919 *is held to be for the calendar month to follow*, no forfeiture ensued for non-payment of premiums. The receipt book in evidence indicated a like sum on January 28, 1920, and on the same day an additional sum of \$1.60. If these payments were properly made to the defendant as premiums on the beneficiary certificate *the same was extended and in force to and within the month of March.*" (Italics ours.)

The latter part of the above sentence which is italicized may be dicta so far as it says that the certificate was in force to and within the month of March, but the first part of the quotation is not dicta because it was one theory on which the case was decided, as is indicated by the court's statement on page 916:

"This (referring to the fact that the certificate was in force at the death of the deceased) is not only true when Sections 57 and 58-A of the constitution are considered, but is true because of the general principle we have stated that the term 'month' whether employed in statutes or contracts and not appearing to have been used in a different sense, denotes a period terminating with the day of the succeeding month numerically corresponding to the date of its beginning less one. If there be no corresponding day of the succeeding month, it terminates on the last day thereof."

The other case is *Rybczynski v. Chicago Fraternal Life Assurance Company*, 227 N.Y.S. 366. The deceased applied for insurance on January 5, 1926. The application was approved on January 15, 1926, and a one year premium was paid in advance on January 27, 1926. The company issued a certificate and dated it January 1, 1926. The certificate was not delivered, but a request was made for a change of beneficiary. The defendant issued a new certificate dated February 3, 1926, which was delivered. A check for the second year's premium, dated February 2, 1927, was received by the company on February 5, 1927, and returned. The insured died on February 16, 1927. The certificate provided:

"If a member elects to pay quarterly, semi-annually or annually, such payments shall be due on the first day of the calendar month of the quarterly, semi-annual or annual period, and must be paid on or before the last day of the month."

The certificate further provided:

"Should the member refuse or fail to make periodical payments at the time stipulated for such payment . . . the certificate is to be void."

The court says on page 368:

"There was no time stipulated for such payment in the benefit certificate, *save as its date, February 3, 1926, be taken in connection with the clause requiring quarterly, semi-annual or annual payments to be due on the first day of the calendar month of the quarterly, semi-annual or annual period*, and must be paid on or before

the last day of said month. That would give *at least* the month of February, 1927 for the payment of the second annual premium before forfeiture. The insured died within the *calendar month of the expiration of the one year period of the policy.*" (Italics ours.)

We recognize that in neither of these cases was the date of the death of the assured subsequent to a date when the certificate would have been forfeited, under the defendant's view, but undoubtedly the court adopted the same theory in each case, which theory is authority for our contention. The point we wish to stress is that in each of the cases the court "tied in" the general expressions to a definite date. In the Reed case, the court tied in the general expressions to the date December 31, 1919, and said the first premium was "for a calendar month to follow." Under defendant's interpretation, the payment of the first premium would have covered one day only, and another would have been due on January 1, 1920. Likewise, in the Rybczynski case the general expressions are tied in to the date of the policy, February 3, 1926, and "calendar month" was tied into the date of the expiration of the one year period of the policy. (See last italicized portion above.)

As stated above, defendant has cited no authority against our contention, nor do the cases cited by defendant support its contention because in none of them was the question raised which is before this court, and in none of them did the court have a contract before it which is the same as in the instant case.

The case of *Sov. Camp W. O. W. v. Rhyne*, 171 Miss. 687, 158 So. 472, cited by defendant on page 17,

can be distinguished from the one at bar for the reason that the contract provision for the payment of premiums had no reference to a fixed date.

The case of *Craig v. Golden Rule Life Ins. Co.*, 184 Ark. 48, 41 S.W. (2d) 769, cited by defendant on page 18, is readily distinguishable in that the application recited the second premium would be due on November 1, 1929, and that the policy was "granted in consideration of the application and the payment of 85 cents on or before the 1st day of October, 1929, and a like payment on or before the 1st of each month during the calendar year and monthly payments in advance thereafter, increasing annually on January 1st of each year in accordance with the cash savings step rate plan."

The question of construction of the contract was not before this court in the case of *Moran v. Knights of Columbus*, 46 Utah 397, 151 Pac. 353, cited by defendant at page 19. The question there was whether the insurance company could insist upon a forfeiture when it had subsequently accepted payments on the certificate. There was no question of the interpretation of the contract to determine whether a forfeiture had occurred. If the *Moran* case is indicative of the "thousands of cases" referred to by defendant on page 20, we are not surprised that defendant failed to include more of them in its brief.

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